IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 72371

Electronically Filed Feb 28 2018 11:03 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

PARDEE HOMES OF NEVADA, INC.

Appellant,

v.

JAMES WOLFRAM; ANGELA L. LIMBOCKER-WILKES, AS TRUSTEE OF THE WALTER D. WILKES AND ANGELA L. LIMBOCKER-WILKES LIVING TRUST, A NEVADA TRUST; AND WALTER D. WILKES AND ANGELA L. LIMBOCKER-WILKES LIVING TRUST, A NEVADA TRUST

Respondents.

Appeal Regarding Judgment and Post-Judgment Orders Eighth Judicial District Court District Court Case No.: A-10-632338-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

McDONALD CARANO LLP
Pat Lundvall (NSBN 3761)
lundvall@mcdonaldcarano.com
Rory T. Kay (NSBN 12416)
rkay@mcdonaldcarano.com

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a final judgment after a bench trial and postjudgment orders. (71 JA 11389-390; 86 JA 13613-621). Appellate jurisdiction exists under NRAP 3A(b)(1). The district court entered the judgment on May 11, 2016 and notice of entry was filed on May 17, 2016. (71 JA 11389-396). Pardee timely moved to amend the judgment pursuant to NRCP 52(b) and 59(e), and both parties moved for their attorney's fees, costs, and interest. (71 JA 11442-454; 72 JA11455-614; 77 JA 12115-182). On January 10, 2017, the district court entered orders on Pardee's motion to amend and the parties' motions for attorney's fees, costs and interest. (86 JA 13613-621). Notice of entry was filed on the same day. (86 JA 13622-642). Pardee filed its notice of appeal on February 8, 2017 regarding the judgment and these postjudgment orders. (86 JA 13657-659).

The district court also entered an amended judgment on October 12, 2017, and notice of entry was filed on October 13, 2017. (88 JA 14118-143). Pardee filed an amended notice of appeal on November 2, 2017. (88 JA 14152-154). This appeal is therefore timely. *See* NRAP 4(a).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is from a civil case that did not originate in business court, does not involve questions of first impression, and does involve postjudgment orders. As a result, it is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. *See* NRAP 17(b).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The American Rule requires each party to bear its own attorney's fees and costs, absent a statute, rule, or contract stating otherwise. Sandy Valley v. Sky Ranch Estates and its progeny recognized three limited exceptions in which attorney's fees can be awarded as "special damages." None of those exceptions involve attorney's fees incurred in prosecuting an ordinary two-party breach of contract claim. In this case, did the district court err in awarding plaintiffs/respondents James Wolfram ("Wolfram") and Walt Wilkes ("Wilkes") as "special damages" their attorney's fees incurred in prosecuting their two-party breach of contract claim against Pardee?
- 2. The Commission Agreement between Wolfram, Wilkes, and Pardee contained a "prevailing party" attorney's fee provision. In this case, Wolfram and Wilkes demanded millions of dollars in additional commissions from Pardee, which was the case's most substantial issue. After the district court found Pardee owed no additional commissions to Wolfram and Wilkes, did the district court err concluding that Wolfram and Wilkes were the prevailing parties and therefore entitled to recover additional attorney's fees on top of their "special damages" attorney's fees?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This contract dispute is between real estate brokers Wolfram and Wilkes, and residential home builder Pardee, regarding Pardee's development agreements for the Coyote Springs development located in Southern Nevada. (1 JA 1-6). The brokers and Pardee executed a Commission Agreement in 2004 which required Pardee to pay Wolfram and Wilkes a commission based upon certain, specifically-defined amounts Pardee was to pay to Coyote Springs Investment, LLC ("CSI") for the opportunity to developed specifically-defined lands. (24 JA 3675-78; 23 JA 3545-3625).

Believing that Pardee failed to pay them millions of dollars in commissions, Wolfram and Wilkes filed suit asserting three causes of action: (1) breach of contract; (2) breach of the contractual implied duty of good faith and fair dealing; and (3) for an accounting. (1 JA 1-6). The contract allegedly breached was the Commission Agreement. (1 JA 1-6). Two and a half years into the litigation, Wolfram and Wilkes moved to file a second amended complaint explaining they were seeking "special damages" for their attorney's fees incurred in prosecuting the breach of contract action against Pardee. (15 JA 2434-61). Pardee opposed the motion, but the district court granted it. (16 JA 2659-61). Pardee also challenged these special damages before trial through a summary judgment motion and a motion in limine. (1 JA 63-82; 13 JA 2145-75). The district court denied these

motions too. (16 JA 2462-64).

The case went to a bench trial beginning in October 2013. (71 JA 11389-91). At the conclusion, the district court found Pardee did not owe Wolfram and Wilkes any additional commissions and Pardee had informed Wolfram and Wilkes of the amount and due dates of all commissions to which they were entitled. (48 JA 7464 at ¶¶ 31-32, 36). The district court also found that Pardee's representations to Wolfram and Wilkes regarding the amount and due dates of their commissions were correct. (48 JA 7465 at ¶ 38). Nevertheless, the district court ruled Pardee breached the Commission Agreement by (1) withholding from Wolfram and Wilkes certain confidential contracts executed between Pardee and CSI concerning land purchases **not** the subject of the Commission Agreement; and (2) failing to provide publicly recorded information about Pardee's purchases of lands from CSI not subject to the Commission Agreement.¹ (48 JA 7464 at ¶ 30; 7469 at ¶¶ 16-17). The district court awarded Wolfram and Wilkes \$6,000.00 in compensatory damages for time and effort searching for publicly recorded information, and \$135,500.00 of their attorney's fees as "special damages" incurred in prosecuting the two-party breach of contract action. (48 JA 7470 at ¶¶ 20-21).

_

¹ Importantly, the district court found that Wolfram and Wilkes were not entitled to any commissions for these purchases, which were not for single-family detached production residential homes, and therefore not the subject of the Commission Agreement. (48 JA 7464 at ¶ 36).

After trial, both parties moved for recovery of their attorney's fees and costs pursuant to the Commission Agreement's prevailing party provision. (72 JA 11590-614; 12115-82). Pardee also moved to amend the judgment regarding the award of \$135,500.00 in attorney's fees as special damages for the breach of contract claim. (72 JA 11455-589). The district court denied Pardee's motions and granted Wolfram and Wilkes' motions for attorney's fees and costs, awarding them \$428,462.75 in additional attorney's fees, \$56,129.56 in costs, and both preand post-judgment interest on the "special damages" attorney's fees award. (86 JA 13613-21). Finally, the district court entered an amended judgment in 2017 that included all awards. (88 JA 14118-29). Pardee now appeals the judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Coyote Springs Development: a Green Field Community.

1. Pardee, Wolfram and Wilkes Become Involved in the Coyote Springs Development.

CSI founder, Harvey Whittemore, owned 43,000 acres of land and water rights northeast of Las Vegas, Nevada that he envisioned turning into a green field community named "Coyote Springs." (40 JA 5825 (17-25); 5840 (21-23)). A green field community is a barren piece of land, well away from existing development, that gives the developer a blank canvas for creating subdivision boundaries, infrastructure, and neighborhood amenities. (40 JA 5841 (1-21); 46 JA 6965 (22) – 6968 (25)). To partner with him in this visionary project,

Whittemore compiled a five-member list of the nation's top residential home builders with operations in the Las Vegas area. (40 JA 5851 (10) – 5853 (9)).

Whittemore included Pardee on that list and met with Klif Andrews, Pardee's Nevada-based division president. (40 JA 5853 (10) – 5854 (11)). On Pardee's behalf, Andrews expressed interest in purchasing land at Coyote Springs to build single-family detached production residential homes,² and he wanted to set up a meeting with Whittemore and Andrews' boss, Jon Lash. (32 JA 4852 (13-14); 40 JA 5854 (12-19)). Lash was Pardee's Senior Vice President of Land Acquisition. (32 JA 4852 (13-14)). Unbeknownst to Whittemore and Andrews, Lash had separately spoken with real estate brokers Wolfram and Wilkes about the Coyote Springs project. (32 JA 4869 (17) – 4870 (2)).

Whittemore and Andrews arranged a preliminary meeting between Pardee and CSI to discuss Coyote Springs. (29 JA 4472 (24) – 4473 (17)). Wolfram and Wilkes attended the meeting but did not participate in any discussions. (29 JA 4473 (7-11); 40 JA 5856 (14-25)). At the meeting, Whittemore indicated he needed a residential home builder to help develop Coyote Springs and at the time he was only interested in selling land for development of single-family detached

² Single-family detached production residential homes are those built on smaller lots without fully customizable amenities. (32 JA 4923 (8-18)). They are distinguishable from multi-family homes (townhomes, apartments, and condominiums) and custom homes (which include bigger lots and greater customizable amenities). (*Id.*). The term "single-family detached production residential homes" has a critical meaning to this case.

production residential homes. (32 JA 5051 (14-19)). All other lands CSI intended to develop itself. (*See id.*).

Working exclusively through Whittemore, Lash, Andrews, and their attorneys, CSI and Pardee negotiated over the next few months until they executed the Option Agreement for the Purchase of Real Property and Joint Escrow Instructions ("Option Agreement") in May 2004. (29 JA 4479-82; 23 JA 3545-625). The Option Agreement created two categories of land for the construction of single-family detached production residential homes at Coyote Springs: Purchase Property and Option Property.³ (23 JA 3545 at Recital B). Because of the unique nature of Coyote Springs as a green field community, CSI and Pardee specifically defined the two categories of land (Purchase Property and Option Property) in the Option Agreement and specifically described how CSI would be paid for Pardee's purchases. (See id.). In doing so, CSI and Pardee expressly recognized the location and legal description of the Purchase Property and Option Property was to be modified from time to time as necessary to conform to existing circumstances. (23 JA 3545 at Recital A).

Pardee originally agreed to pay CSI \$66 million in exchange for the right to develop specifically defined lands, i.e. Purchase Property. (29 JA 4482 (18-20); 32

³ Any term capitalized herein was specifically defined in the Option Agreement executed by CSI And Pardee. (23 JA 3545-625). Those capitalized terms, and others from the Option Agreement, were incorporated into Pardee and the brokers' Commission Agreement. (24 JA 3675).

JA 4864 (8-14); 23 JA 3546 at ¶ 1). The parties defined the purchase amount as the "Purchase Property Price" in the Option Agreement. (23 JA 3547 at ¶ 1(b)). Because Coyote Springs was a green field community being built from the ground up with no existing infrastructure, land entitlements or zoning, CSI and Pardee could not and did not describe the specific locations of the Purchase Property or a specific number of acres that constituted the Purchase Property at the time they executed the Option Agreement. (32 JA 4864 (4-14); 40 JA 5829 (2-17) and 5870 (9-16)). The parties knew the specific locations and acres would shift as they obtained entitlements, worked through environmental issues with the Bureau of Land Management ("BLM") and United States Fish & Wildlife Service ("FWS"), and adjusted development to correspond to the local economy's condition. (40 JA 5829 (2-17) and 5870 (9-16); 46 JA 6977 (19) - 6982 (7)).

The parties did, however, specifically define the payment schedule for the Purchase Property Price and the method for acquiring acreage and its location. (23 JA 3546-47 at \P 1(b)). Under the Option Agreement, as Pardee paid CSI the monthly installments on the Purchase Property Price, Pardee did not immediately receive any land. (46 JA at 6959 (24) – 6960 (19)). Instead, Pardee received the right to buy land designated for single-family detached production residential homes to be mapped in the future as the parties worked through the entitlement

process and the Coyote Springs development became more defined.⁴ (32 JA 4988 (9) – 4989 (4); 46 JA 6969 (10) - 6970 (19)).

Under the Option Agreement, Option Property was defined separately from Purchase Property. (32 JA 4989 (7-9)). The Option Agreement gave Pardee a forty-year option to purchase specifically defined Option Property at \$40,000 per acre with annual adjustments. (23 JA 3549 at ¶ 2). Pardee and CSI defined "Option Property" as "the remaining portion of the Entire Site which is or becomes designated for single-family detached production residential use." (23 JA 3545 at Recital B). To purchase Option Property, Pardee was contractually required to publicly record several documents with relevant government agencies. (46 JA 6992 (3) – 6993 (5)). At trial, Whittemore, Lash, and Andrews testified Pardee never purchased Option Property at Coyote Springs. (32 JA 4857 (14-18); 35 JA 5423 (6-18) and 5424 (24) - 5425 (4)). None of the required public documents were ever recorded. (42 JA 6378 (12) - 6379 (17)). Whittemore, Lash, and Andrews all testified that given the recession it made no financial sense for Pardee to purchase additional lands over and above what they had contracted to purchase

-

⁴ As CSI and Pardee completed zoning and entitlements for portions of Coyote Springs, the parties continually reconciled the land designations with Pardee demanding CSI create a parcel map for specific areas of Coyote Springs and CSI submitting the same to the county government for approval. (46 JA 6959 (24) – 6960 (19)). Through this process, Pardee paid the Purchase Property Price and acquired just over 2,100 acres of land designated as Purchase Property. (46 JA 7011 (14) – 7012 (3)).

as Purchase Property. (29 JA 4653 (10-18); 33 JA 5154 (22) - 5155 (21); 46 JA 6990 (6) - 6991 (9)). The district court expressly found that Pardee did **not** purchase any Option Property. (48 JA 7464 at \P 36).

Between July 2004 and March 2005, CSI and Pardee twice amended the Option Agreement, raising the "Purchase Property Price" from \$66 to \$84 million, and entered into an Amended and Restated Option Agreement for the Purchase of Real Property and Joint Escrow Instructions ("AROA"). (23 JA 3632-34; 24 JA 3645 at ¶ 4; 25 JA 3684-933; 26 JA 3934-4083). Across time, Pardee paid CSI the full amount of the Purchase Property Price of \$84 million in monthly installments over a four-year period. (24 JA 3645 at ¶ 4).

2. Pardee, Wolfram and Wilkes Execute a Commission Agreement.

While Pardee and CSI were negotiating the Option Agreement, Lash, Wolfram, and Wilkes negotiated an agreement to compensate Wolfram and Wilkes for introducing Pardee to CSI. (33 JA 5140 (23) – 5141 (16); 37 JA 5754 (25) – 5756 (17)). Both sides had counsel during the negotiations, and numerous drafts were exchanged. (33 JA 5141 (21) – 5143 (13); 37 JA 5757 (13) – 5758 (3)). During these negotiations, Wolfram and Wilkes were given copies of the Option Agreement and its amendments. (37 JA 5582 (14-24)). After several months negotiating, Pardee, Wolfram and Wilkes executed the Commission Agreement in September 2004. (24 JA 3675-78).

The Commission Agreement provided commissions for Wolfram and Wilkes separately and differently based on "Purchase Property Price" to be paid by Pardee and "Option Property" as defined in the Option Agreement and its amendments. (See id. at ¶ (i)-(iii)). Specifically, the commissions Pardee would pay were centered on the Option Agreement's key terms of "Purchase Property Price" and "Option Property":

- Pardee shall pay four percent (4%) of the **Purchase Property Price** payments made by Pardee pursuant to paragraph 1 of the Option Agreement up to a maximum of Fifty Million Dollars (\$50,000,000);
- (ii) Then, Pardee shall pay one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) of the remaining **Purchase Property Price** payments made by Pardee pursuant to paragraph 1 of the Option Agreement in the aggregate amount of Sixteen Million Dollars (\$16,000,000.00);⁵ and
- (iii) Then, with respect to any portion of the **Option Property** purchased by Pardee pursuant to paragraph 2 of the Option Agreement, Pardee shall pay one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) of the amount derived by multiplying the number of acres purchased by Pardee by Forty Thousand Dollars (\$40,000.00).

(24 JA 3675) (emphasis added). Given the use of specific terms from the Option Agreement, the Commission Agreement compensated Wolfram and Wilkes only for Pardee's purchase of land at Coyote Springs designated for "single-family

11

⁵ The Option Agreement's second amendment raised the Purchase Property Price from \$66 to \$84 million. (24 JA 3645 at ¶ 4). Pardee included this increase in the Commission Agreement's commission structure, increasing the aggregate amount in provision (ii) from \$16 million to \$34 million.

detached production residential homes." (See id. at ¶¶ (i)-(iii)).6

The Commission Agreement also required Pardee to provide Wolfram and Wilkes with certain information based on the Option Agreement's definitions. (24 JA 3676). Specifically, Pardee was to keep Wolfram and Wilkes "reasonably informed as to all matters relating to the amount and due dates of [their] commission payments." (24 JA 3676). As found by the district court, Pardee supplied Wolfram and Wilkes with the amounts and due dates for the \$2,632,000.00 in commission payments made by Pardee. (48 JA 7464 at ¶¶ 31-34). Pardee was also required to provide "a copy of each written option exercise notice given pursuant to paragraph 2 of the Option Agreement, together with information as to the number of acres involved and the scheduled closing date." (24 JA 3676). Because Pardee did not purchase any Option Property, there were no such notices to provide. (48 JA 7464 at ¶ 36).

3. CSI and Pardee Jointly Develop Coyote Springs and Subsequently Execute Several Confidential Agreements.

When CSI and Pardee executed the Option Agreement and its amendments, each expected additional agreements or modifications as they jointly developed

^{- 1}

⁶ Lash testified Whittemore was only offering single-family detached production residential lands when Pardee and CSI negotiated and executed the Option Agreement. (32 JA 4890 (11) – 4891 (3)). Pardee, Wolfram, and Wilkes incorporated the Option Agreement's definitions into their Commission Agreement on that basis. (*See id.*).

Coyote Springs. (40 JA 5833 (23) – 5835 (11); 46 JA 6979 (14) – 6984 (5)). As Coyote Springs developed and particularly when the housing market deteriorated, CSI and Pardee subsequently executed eight amendments to the AROA between July 2006 and June 2009. (27 JA 4293-453). Lash and Whittemore testified at trial that these new agreements did not deal with single-family detached production residential lands but instead covered lands designated for other uses. (32 JA 4859 (20) – 4860 (2); 40 JA 5834 (23) – 5835 (11)).

The AROA and eight amendments (collectively the "Confidential Agreements") each contained a confidentiality provision preventing CSI and Pardee from disclosing "any information" regarding the Confidential Agreements and the "terms and provisions thereof." (25 JA 3728 at ¶ 27). Both Lash and Whittemore testified the Confidential Agreements contained highly sensitive commercial information that CSI and Pardee did not want competitors to have because it may cause competitive harm. (33 JA 5164 (7) – 5165 (5); 40 JA 5929 (2-12)). Accordingly, CSI informed the escrow company and others not to reveal the Confidential Agreements. (40 JA 5871 (19) – 5872 (2)).

The Confidential Agreements did not increase the Purchase Property Price. (35 JA 5442 (21) – 5443 (20); 40 JA 5834 (23) – 5835 (11); 46 JA 6984 (6-15)). They did not indicate Pardee purchased any Option Property. (32 JA 4859 (20) – 4860 (8); 33 JA 5162 (18) – 5164 (6); 35 JA 5443 (21-24)). Nor did they change

the definitions of Purchase Property Price or Option Property found in the original Option Agreement and its two amendments previously provided to Wolfram and Wilkes. (33 JA 5162 (18-21); 35 JA 5443 (1-24)).

B. <u>Pardee Pays All Wolfram and Wilkes' Commissions Through a Title Company.</u>

1. Pardee Pays Wolfram and Wilkes All Commissions Owed Under the Commission Agreement.

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