IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 72371

Electronically Filed May 01 2018 10:56 a.m. PARDEE HOMES OF NEVADA, INC. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court Appellant,

v.

JAMES WOLFRAM; ANGELA L. LIMBOCKER-WILKES, AS TRUSTEE OF THE WALTER D. WILKES AND ANGELA L. LIMBOCKER-WILKES LIVING TRUST, A NEVADA TRUST,; AND WALTER D. WILKES AND ANGELA L. LIMBOCKER-WILKES LIVING TRUST, A NEVADA TRUST

Respondents.

Appeal Regarding Judgment and Post-Judgment Orders Eighth Judicial District Court District Court Case No.: A-10-632338-C

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court properly granted judgment in favor of Wolfram and Wilkes, finding that they (1) were the prevailing party, and (2) were entitled to certain attorney's fees as damages. The judgment should be affirmed.

The district court properly entered judgment in favor of Wolfram and Wilkes on every single one of their claims for relief, granted them the most important relief they sought (the Order on Accounting), and found that they had defeated Pardee's counterclaim. Wolfram and Wilkes were correctly found to be the prevailing party for the purposes of awarding attorney's fees and costs. Indeed, it would be outrageous for Pardee to be deemed the prevailing party when it suffered defeat on every cause of action at issue. Pardee erroneously argues that because the district court did not award Wolfram and Wilkes damages for unpaid commissions that Pardee should have been the prevailing party. Pardee is wrong. This case has always been principally and primarily a dispute over information, and thus the relief granted to Wolfram and Wilkes renders them the prevailing party under Nevada law. Failing to recover an additional \$30,000.00 in commissions does nothing to change that result. Pardee's arguments to persuade Court otherwise are unfounded.

Furthermore, the district court properly awarded Wolfram and Wilkes certain attorney's fees as damages. As the district court found, it was necessary and foreseeable for Wolfram and Wilkes to file suit to seek the documents to which they were entitled to from Pardee. Attorney's fees as damages are therefore appropriate under *Sandy Valley Assoc. v. Sky Ranch Estates Owners Ass'n*, 117 Nev. 948, 35 P.3d 964 (2001). In seeking injunctive/equitable relief due to Pardee's improper conduct, Wolfram and Wilkes's action falls under one of the three categories of cases for which attorney's fees should be awarded as damages. Pardee's attempt to argue otherwise and categorize this claim as a routine twoparty contract dispute should fail. The district court properly found in favor of Wolfram and Wilkes on all of their claims. They are the prevailing party. Further, because Wolfram and Wilkes's action satisfied the *Sandy Valley* criteria, it was appropriate for them to be awarded their attorney's fees as damages. The judgment should be affirmed in its entirety.

ARGUMENT

A. <u>Standard of Review</u>

Generally, an award of attorney's fees is reviewed for abuse of discretion. LVMPD v. Blackjack Bonding, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 10, 343 P.3d 608, 614 (2015); Nelson v. Peckham Plaza Partnerships, 110 Nev. 23, 26, 866 P.2d 1138, 1139-40 (1994) ("Unless there is a manifest abuse of discretion, a district court's award of attorney's fees will not be overturned on appeal."). Indeed, appellate review of a district court's determination of the prevailing party for the purposes of awarding attorney's fees pursuant to contract is for abuse of discretion. See Blackjack Bonding, 343 P.3d at 614-15; Nelson, 110 Nev. at 26; ParksA America, Inc. v. Harper, No. 66949, 2016 WL 4082312 *2 (Nev. July 28, 2016) (reviewing determination of prevailing party and order of attorney's fees based on contract provision for abuse of discretion);

31

Rainbow Commercial, LLC v. Griego, Nos. 68164, 71000, 2017 WL 2945521, *3 (Nev. App. June 29, 2017) (same); Jones v. Jones, No. 66632, 2016 WL 3856487, *6 (Nev. July 14, 2016) (same). Pardee's assertion to the contrary is erroneous. (Br. at 24.)¹⁵

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the proper standard of appellate review of an award of attorney's fees as special damages is *de novo*. *Liu v. Christopher Homes, LLC*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 17, 321 P.3d 875, 878 (2014); *Horgan v. Felton*, 123 Nev. 577, 581, 170 P.3d 982, 985 (2007).

¹⁵ Pardee's reliance on *Davis v. Beling*, 128 Nev. 301, 278 P.3d 501 (2012) is misplaced. There, the Court was left to interpret two separate attorney's fees provisions and decide whether a fee award is authorized under the same. Conversely, here, (1) there is no dispute that attorney's fees to the prevailing party are authorized under the Commission Agreement; and (2) there is no argument that the district court interpreted the attorney's provision incorrectly. Pardee instead argues that the district court erred in rendering a determination of prevailing party. Proper review of the district court's determination of prevailing is for abuse of discretion. See e.g., McDaniel v. Ctv. of Schenectady, 595 F.3d 411, 416 (2d Cir. 2010) ("Abuse of discretion-already one of the most deferential standards of review-takes on special significance when reviewing fee decisions because the district court, which is intimately familiar with the nuances of the case, is in a far better position to make such decisions than is an appellate court, which must work from a cold record.").

B. <u>The District Court Properly Awarded Wolfram and Wilkes Their</u> <u>Attorney's Fees and Costs</u>

Wolfram and Wilkes were correctly awarded their attorney's fees and costs after trial as (1) they were the prevailing party entitled to their attorney's fees and costs under the Commission Agreement; and (2) they suffered compensable attorney's fees as damages pursuant to *Sandy Valley*, and its progeny. As detailed below, Pardee's characterization that Wolfram and Wilkes's award of fees constituted a "depart[ure]" from the American Rule is in error. (Br. at 25.)

1. The District Court Properly Found Wolfram and Wilkes to be the Prevailing Party, and Awarded Them Their Attorney's Fees

The district court found in favor of Wolfram and Wilkes on all three of their causes of action as well as in their favor on Pardee's sole counterclaim. (71 JA 11389-91.) As a result, Wolfram and Wilkes were awarded the equitable relief they sought (the Order on Accounting) and also money damages. (*Id.*) Consequently, the district court found Wolfram and Wilkes to have been the prevailing party in this action, and awarded them their attorney's fees pursuant to the Commission Agreement. (86 JA 13462-64.) Notwithstanding the significant relief awarded to Wolfram and Wilkes, and Pardee's failure to succeed on any cause of action, Pardee erroneously maintains that it was the prevailing party.

a. Nevada Law and the Prevailing Party Provision in the Commission Agreement

Nevada law permits an award of attorney's fees pursuant to contract. Sandy Valley, 117 Nev. at 956. An attorney's fees provision is construed just like any other agreement. Davis, 128 Nev. at 321. "The initial focus is on whether the language of the contract is clear and unambiguous; if it is, the contract will be enforced as written." Id. The attorney's fees provision in this action is a garden-variety prevailing party provision, which states, "In the event either party brings an action to enforce its rights under this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be awarded reasonable attorney's fees and costs." (27 JA 4290.)

Knowing that the term "prevailing party" is not expressly defined in the Commission Agreement, Pardee argues that the attorney's fees provision reflects the parties' intent that the prevailing party is the one that succeeded on the "**case's most substantial issue**." (Br. at 30, emphasis in original.)¹⁶ Pardee then proceeds to cite to Florida and

¹⁶ Pardee argues that "the parties did not contemplate that the Commission Agreement's prevailing party provision would allow Wolfram and Wilkes to recover attorney's fees and costs despite losing on

California decisions in support of this interpretation of the attorney's fees provision. (*Id.* at 30-31.) Pardee's approach and interpretation of the provision is incorrect. The Commission Agreement provides that its terms shall be construed under the laws of the State of Nevada. (27 JA 4290.) Therefore, Nevada law will determine the meaning of "prevailing party."

In Nevada, "[a] party prevails if it succeeds on *any significant issue* in litigation which achieves some of the benefit it sought in bringing suit." *Blackjack Bonding*, 343 P.3d at 614-15 (citations omitted, emphasis in original). Furthermore, "to be a prevailing party, a party need not succeed on every issue." *Id.*, citing *Hensley v. Eckerhart*, 461 U.S. 424, 434, 103 S. Ct. 1933 (1983); *see also Hornwood v. Smith's Food King No. I*, 105 Nev. 188, 192, 772 P.2d 1284, 1287 (1989). Accordingly, it is error to conclude, as Pardee does, that the prevailing party is the one who succeeds on the case's most substantial issue. Instead, the Court should

the case's most substantial issue." (Br. at 34-35.) This argument has no merit. Not only is there no citation to support such an allegation, but Pardee's argument ignores Nevada's black letter law on contract interpretation—if the terms are unambiguous (which they are in this instance), they will be enforced as written. Nevada law is contrary to Pardee's preferred definition of "prevailing party."

find that the prevailing party is the one who prevails on any significant issue that achieves some benefit sought in bringing the action—in this case, Wolfram and Wilkes.

This Court has repeatedly held that a plaintiff need not succeed on every claim or every issue in order to be deemed the prevailing party. For example, in Hornwood, the Court found that the plaintiff was the prevailing party as it "achieved a benefit in bringing [the] suit," despite only succeeding on one of its three damage theories. 105 Nev. at 192. Similarly, in Bentley v. State, Office of State Eng'r, No. 64773, 2016 WL 3856572, at *11 (Nev. July 14, 2016), this Court held that despite abandoning half of their initial claims, the intervenors were properly deemed the prevailing party as they succeeded on the other half of the claims that were tried and went to judgment. Id.; see also Terry v. Cruea, No. 71930, 2017 WL 4618615, *2 n. 1 (Nev. Oct. 13, 2017) (finding that the prevailing party was one who succeeded on a single issue, even when the bulk of the dispute had been settled).

Blackjack Bonding is particularly persuasive on this issue. There, the Court found that the order compelling the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Dept. to produce certain requested records demonstrated that Blackjack Bonding "succeeded on a significant issue and achieved at least some of the benefit that it sought." 343 P.3d at 615. The Court remanded the dispute back to the district court for an order awarding Blackjack Bonding attorney's fees and costs. In this case, the district court ordered Pardee to produce the records sought and also granted Wolfram and Wilkes monetary damages. Clearly, Wolfram and Wilkes "succeeded on a significant issue and achieved at least of the benefit that it sought," and thus the district court properly found them to have prevailed. (71 JA 11389-91.)

b. The Most Significant Issue in this Action Was the Claim for Accounting—Not a Claim for Unpaid Commissions

Notwithstanding this significant success, Pardee claims to be the prevailing party because it was not ordered to pay any commissions to Wolfram and Wilkes after they, according to Pardee, filed suit seeking \$1.8 million in unpaid commissions. (Br. at 32.) Indeed, Pardee's entire appeal rests on convincing this Court as to a complete falsehood.¹⁷

¹⁷ While Pardee is also seeking to reverse the district court's decision on the award of attorney's fees as damages, if Pardee does not succeed in reversing the district court's finding that Wolfram and Wilkes were the prevailing party, Wolfram and Wilkes will still be able to recover those attorney's fees as costs of litigation under the attorney's fees provision in the Commission Agreement.

This action, from the very outset, was about acquiring information that was being wrongfully withheld from Wolfram and Wilkes by Pardee. The Complaint, and every amendment thereto, makes no claim for or allegation as to any unpaid commissions. (1 JA 1-6; 7-12; 16 JA 2670-77.) Indeed, the allegations entirely center on Wolfram and Wilkes's attempts to get information from Pardee and Pardee's failure to provide them the information. (*Id.*) Consequently, the first claim for relief and the first prayer for relief is for an accounting. (*Id.*)

During discovery, Wolfram and Wilkes both stated that the reason they filed suit was to get information. (3 JA 367:11-368:17; 547:14-548:1.)¹⁸ In their Opposition to Pardee's Motion for Summary Judgment, Wolfram and Wilkes explain at length the importance of their quest for information. (2 JA 325:11-327:2) ("It is the latter duty—the requirement to keep Plaintiffs reasonably information as to all matters related to the commission, and, in particular, to provide Plaintiffs with copies of Option Notices when Pardee acquires Option Property from CSI—that Pardee

 $^{^{18}}$ Mr. Wilkes also testified that he thought he was owed an unspecified amount in commissions, but the bulk of his answer to the question about what he hopes to recover from the lawsuit is information and documents. (3 JA 558:8-16.)

has shirked, compelling Plaintiffs' action.") In their pre-trial brief, Wolfram and Wilkes further expound upon the need for information which formed the basis for their lawsuit. (31 JA 4818-4847.)

During trial, counsel for Wolfram and Wilkes in his opening statement explained that Wolfram and Wilkes commenced this suit to (32 JA 3225:16-3226:7.) Counsel for Pardee even get information. commented on this in her opening statement, declaring "he counsel for Wolfram and Wilkes seems to focus on that we did not give information to which the plaintiffs were entitled..." (32 JA 3276:2-3; 3283:1-4) Wolfram and Wilkes both testified that the case was first and foremost about information. (37 JA 5540:2-22; 5685:8-11; 5700:10-18.) Mr. Wolfram specifically testified, "my whole, whole lawsuit is about information, not money." (41 JA 6150:8-9.) Wolfram even testified that he wasn't looking for more money. (41 JA 6108:16-20.) Consequently, at trial, the word "information" was used 714 times (this is distinct from similar words such as inform, informs, informed, or evidence that would contain information such as documents, records, or maps). The Court has even been provided hundreds of citations to the trial record where there is testimony or argument concerning information. *See* footnote 10, *supra*.

After trial, the district court repeatedly found that this case was principally about information and not one for unpaid commissions. (70 JA 11055:4-24; 11062:5-11063:15; 11070:3-12; 11077:21-24; 11093:24-11094:6; 86 JA 13520:18-13522:10.)¹⁹ This is hardly the record of a case where the plaintiffs were seeking millions in commission payments as Pardee wrongly and wrongfully suggests.

To be faithful to the record and forthright with this Court, it is true that issues of commissions were raised during this action, but they were never the central issue in the dispute. Wolfram and Wilkes believed that because Pardee was purchasing land outside of Parcel One, that such land constituted Option Property, which was subject to a different calculation for commission payments than the formula for Pardee's acquisition of land inside Parcel One (Purchase Property). The

¹⁹ The district court's finding as to who was the prevailing party is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See Blackjack Bonding*, 343 P.3d at 614-15. The evidence conclusively establishes that the district court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Wolfram and Wilkes were the prevailing party.

differences in the two formulas were slight,²⁰ but in light of the 40-year horizon on the Option Agreement between Pardee and CSI, getting complete information on purchases and development at Coyote Springs was critical to Wolfram and Wilkes for posterity's sake. (48 JA 7473 at ¶ 6.)

Notwithstanding how Wolfram and Wilkes understood the agreement, the Court found that the commission payments should be based on the boundaries of Purchase Property and Option Property under the amendments to the Amended and Restated Option Agreement, and not on the boundaries at the time the Commission Agreement was executed, thereby avoiding the task of having to recalculate the commission payments. (48 JA 7459 at ¶ 11; 7464 at ¶¶ 33, 36.)²¹

²⁰ Under romanette two (ii) of the Commission Agreement, Wolfram and Wilkes would get 1.5% of the Purchase Property Price over \$50,000,000.00 and under romanette three (iii) Wolfram and Wilkes would get 1.5% of the amount of acres of Option Property purchase times \$40,000.00 per acre. (27 JA 4289.) As the per acre price of Purchase Property was very close to \$40,000.00 per acre (40 JA 5931:15-18), any difference in commission amounts would be limited.

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